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1 

Procedural History2 

This wrongful death case arises from defendants’ negligent care of 

Romaine Mahalchick.  Plaintiffs filed a Complaint (on June 13, 2018) then 

Amended Complaint (on September 25, 2019) for Wrongful Death and 

Survival in Medical Malpractice (and lack of informed consent).  A99, 118. 

Defendants filed Answers denying plaintiff’s claims.  A35, 164. 

Discovery took several years because of the complex medical 

malpractice issues and the COVID-19 pandemic that struck during the case.  

The Law Division ultimately entered Case Management Orders extending the 

discovery end date several times, with the final end date set as December 30, 

2021, and trial then not occurring until one and one-years after that (in May 

2023).   A220.   

The issue in this appeal revolves around plaintiffs’ claim against 

defendant, Harold Chung-Loy, M.D., a general surgeon who plaintiffs charged 

2 References to transcripts are as follows: 

1T 

2T 

3T 

4T 

5T 

6T 

7T 

8T 

9T 

8/27/21 (motion) 

11/12/21 (reconsideration) 

5/3/23 (trial)

5/4/23 (trial)

5/8/23 (trial)

5/9/23 (trial)

5/15/23 (trial)

5/16/23 (trial)

5/11/23 (trial)
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 2 

was primarily responsible for Mrs. Mahalchick’s wrongful death.  Plaintiffs 

originally served an expert report of Paul Collier, M.D., explaining why Dr. 

Chung-Loy’s care was negligent.  In 2018, defendant moved to dismiss 

plaintiffs’ Complaint on the ground that Dr. Collier lacked the proper 

qualifications to opine about Dr. Chung-Loy’s care.  A176.   

Plaintiffs thus obtained a different expert, David Mayer, M.D., and 

served his expert report on defendant.  A40.  After defendant deposed Dr. 

Mayer on June 8, 2021, however, defendant moved (on July 6, 2021) to bar 

this expert too – again charging lack of sufficient qualification.  A20. 

Plaintiffs opposed defendant’s motion but also cross-moved for 

permission to designate a new expert witness for trial -- to address the 

qualification objections that defendant continually raised.  A89.  Plaintiffs 

retained the new expert -- Stephen Ferzoco, M.D. – while the motions were 

pending, and, on July 30, served Dr. Ferzoco’s Expert Report on Dr. Chung-

Loy’s counsel.  A235 .    

On August 9, while the motions were still pending, Judge Sheedy, who 

was overseeing the complex case, entered a Case Management Order 

extending the discovery end date to November 17, 2021 on consent of all 

parties, and providing that expert depositions should be completed by October 

17, 2021.  A220. 
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On August 25, defendant Chung-Loy withdrew his motion to bar Dr. 

Mayer from testifying as plaintiffs’ expert, but objected to Dr. Ferzoco being 

allowed as plaintiffs’ new expert.  A217; 1T5:1-25.  Oral argument was held 

before Judge Owen McCarthy two days later, following which Judge 

McCarthy denied plaintiffs’ motion to name Dr. Ferzoco as their expert  for 

trial (noting plaintiffs had Dr. Mayer as an expert, and worrying about 

delaying trial).  A18; 1T10-12. 

Discovery, meanwhile, continued.  Judge Sheedy held Case Management 

Conferences about the status of discovery on October 1, and again on October 

12, at which time Judge Sheedy agreed to extend the discovery end date to 

December 30, 2021 on consent of all parties (A218, entering the formal Case 

Management Order on November 18, 2021, A273).   

After Judge Sheedy extended the discovery deadlines again, and with 

several experts on both sides still remaining to be deposed, plaintiffs filed a 

motion for reconsideration before Judge McCarthy, asking him to change his 

August 27 ruling that had denied plaintiffs permission to name Dr. Ferzoco as 

their expert.  A209.  Defendant opposed.  Judge McCarthy heard argument on 

November 12, 2021 and denied reconsideration by Order entered that day, 

noting again that plaintiffs had Dr. Mayer and stressing that Monmouth County 

was “moving cases” (A16). 

AMENDEDFILED, Clerk of the Appellate Division, October 16, 2023, A-003356-22, AMENDED



 4 

Trial, then, did not even take place until one and one-half years later – in 

May 2023.  At trial, Dr. Chung-Loy’s counsel eviscerated plaintiffs’ expert, 

Dr. Mayer, before the jury about the same credentialing and qualification 

issues that defendant had raised pretrial and which plaintiffs had retained Dr. 

Ferzoco to address.  Stuck without the expert they wanted and believed most 

qualified to explain Dr. Chung-Loy’s negligent care of Mrs. Mahalchick, 

plaintiffs lost their case, with the jury returning a “no cause” verdict in Dr. 

Chung-Loy’s favor.  A14.   

Plaintiffs now appeal Judge McCarthy’s erroneous and unfairly 

prejudicial pretrial orders and ask the Court to grant them a new trial where 

they can present to the jury the expert witness they wanted to explain the most 

critical aspect of their wrongful death claim.  A1. 

Statement of Facts 

 

The Malpractice Case against Dr. Chung-Loy 

Mrs.  Mahalchick was a healthy, 81-year old woman.  She was a loving 

mother and grandmother.  She was active in her community, working daily at 

the local elementary school and caring for the children there.  7T74-75, 93-97. 

Then, on June 12, while travelling to a casino with her friends, Mrs. 

Mahalchick fell ill with extreme stomach pain.  She rushed to the emergency 
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room at Robert Wood Johnson University Hospital.  She described her severe 

abdominal pain as “10 out of 10.”  She was quickly admitted.  7T74-75, 93-97. 

Among the providers called upon to assess Mrs. Mahalchick was Dr. 

Chung-Loy, a general surgeon.  “Urgent/Stat” consults were sent to Dr. 

Chung-Loy.  Dr. Chung-Loy spoke only with a physician assistant (Gualano), 

however, not the admitting Doctor (Chen) or with any other doctor (despite the 

Hospital’s internal policies so requiring).  Dr. Chung-Loy did not travel to the 

Hospital to examine Mrs. Mahalchick either.  He told physician assistant 

Gualano, during their phone call, to start Mrs. Mahalchick on pain medication 

and that he (Dr. Chung-Loy) would see her the following day.  A237-41. 

Overnight, meanwhile, Mrs. Mahalchick’s condition worsened 

considerably.  By 5:18 a.m., her blood pressure had dropped to 90/57 – far 

below what Hospital nurses and doctors had established as her baseline.  By 

9:58 a.m., Dr. Chen put Mrs. Mahalchick into the Hospital’s intensive care 

unit.  A237-41.  

Dr. Chung-Loy finally arrived at the hospital and saw Mrs. Mahalchick a 

couple of hours later, sometime in the late morning.  In a note he dictated at 1 

p.m. that day, Dr. Chung-Loy acknowledged Mrs. Mahalchick’s continued 

decline and the “possibility of ischemic colitis.”  He continued to defer 

surgery, however.  Only after Mrs. Mahalchick deteriorated even further 
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during the afternoon did Dr. Chung-Loy finally decide, at 5:26 p.m., that she 

needed immediate surgical intervention.  Dr. Chung-Loy performed the 

surgery 90 minutes later (at 7 p.m.), and saw that Mrs. Mahalchick’s entire 

colon was “discolored and grossly ischemic.”  He performed a subtotal 

colectomy.  But it was too late.  Mrs. Mahalchick never recovered from the 

surgery.  She died the following day from “severe ischemic colitis and septic 

shock.” A237-41. 

The Expert Reports about Dr. Chung-Loy’s care  
 

 Plaintiffs first retained a general and vascular surgeon, Dr. Collier.  A37.  

Defendant objected and moved to dismiss plaintiffs’ claim against Dr. Chung-

Loy on grounds that Dr. Collier specialized in vascular and general surgery, 

while Dr. Chung-Loy was a general surgeon only.  A176.   

So plaintiff retained Dr. Mayer, who provided an Affidavit of Merit and 

Expert Report, which plaintiffs served on defendants in September 2020.  A40, 

147.  After defendant deposed Dr. Mayer in June 2021, however, defendant 

again moved to bar plaintiffs’ expert for claimed lack of qualification.  A20. 

Finally, plaintiffs retained Dr. Ferzoco to address the qualification 

objections that defendants had continually raised.  Dr. Ferzoco was eminently 

qualified -- a general surgeon and graduate of Yale University’s School of 

Medicine with surgical training associated with Harvard Medical School  
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(A235-56).  He explained in his Expert Report (served on defendants on July 

30, 2021) that the care Dr. Chung-Loy provided to Mrs. Mahalchick “did not 

comply with the acceptable standard of care for a qualified general surgeon:” 

Patients presenting as Ms. Mahalchick did with evidence of 

pneumatosis and significant lactic acidosis require exploratory 

surgery to evaluate for ischemic or necrotic bowel.  Dr. Chung-

Loy failed to come in the night he was called and evaluate Ms. 

Mahalchick who was severely ill and in need of a surgical 

consultation. Dr. Chung-Loy failed to review the images of her CT 

scan once the suspicion of pneumatosis was identified, a serious 

CT finding. He failed to comprehend the severity of her condition 

and the need for a exploratory laparotomy the night she was 

admitted. 

 

The following morning, Dr. Chung-Loy should have appreciated 

that Ms. Mahalchick's clinical condition had not improved, as 

evidenced by the developing hypotensive shock, continued pain 

she was suffering despite multiple doses of pain medication, and 

distended abdomen and the minimal reduction in her lactic acid. 

Dr. Chung-Loy failed to accurately diagnose and treat Ms. 

Mahalchik the next morning and in his 1 PM dictated note he is 

still considering ischemic colitis as possible as opposed to acting 

on the surgical emergency in front of him. These failures led to the 

delay of definitive life-saving treatment. The infectious disease 

consult later that afternoon reflected continuing and persistent 

10/10 abdominal pain and deferred the case back to surgery. A 

decision to proceed quickly to surgery at the time of his 1PM 

dictated note, more likely than not, would have resulted in Ms. 

Mahalchick surviving the emergency surgery. 

 

In summary, it is my opinion to a reasonable degree of medical 

probability, as a board-certified general surgeon, that the 

acceptable standard of care was not met in this case. Dr. Chung-

Loy failed to appear at the hospital the night of June 12, 2016 for a  

patient who was suffering from all the hallmarks of an acute 

abdomen - pain out of proportion, lactic acidosis and a CT scan 

with possible pneumatosis at the splenic flexure. Dr. Chung-Loy 
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failed to take her to the OR that night for an exploratory 

laparotomy as was needed and then Dr. Chung-Loy continued to 

delay and deny her the life-saving treatment that she required long 

into the next day.  Dr. Chung-Loy's failure to timely diagnose and 

surgically treat the emergent situation his patient was in was the 

proximate cause for Ms. Mahalchick 's death. [A240] 

 

Plaintiffs’ Motion to name Dr. Ferzoco as their expert for trial 

Plaintiffs stressed in their motion that there was no trial date scheduled 

and ample time for defendant to depose Dr. Ferzoco.  A95-98; 1T7-8.  Though 

the February 16, 2021 Case Management Order had provided a discovery end 

date of July 20, 2021, overseeing Judge Sheedy then entered an August 9 Case 

Management Order extending the discovery end date to November 17, 2021, 

and providing for completion of expert depositions by October 17, 2021.  

A269.  Plaintiffs had served Dr. Ferzoco’s expert report on defendant on July 

30 (A218) and had complied with all discovery deadlines otherwise (A95-98, 

A214-219).3   

 
3 In their June 10, 2021 correspondence (A170), plaintiffs’ counsel advised Judge 

McCarthy that “[t]he parties have been diligently coordinating and scheduling 
plaintiffs' expert depositions.  To date, two of five of plaintiffs' experts have been 

deposed; one is confirmed to go forward on July 8, 2021; one needs to be 

rescheduled from June 14, 2021, as the doctor is not available; and the last doctor 

is-coordinating dates with his schedule but has not been confirmed to date.  Upon 

completion of plaintiffs' experts’ depositions, plaintiffs will need to coordinate and 
notice the depositions of defendants' experts, 19 experts in total.” 
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Thus, by the time that Judge McCarthy heard argument on plaintiffs’ 

application on August 27, there were nearly two months left to complete expert 

depositions, and nearly three months before the discovery end date.  A218.   

Judge McCarthy nonetheless worried about delaying trial if he permitted 

Dr. Ferzoco as plaintiffs’ trial expert (1T8), and told plaintiffs’ counsel they 

already had Dr. Mayer as their expert since defendant had withdrawn his 

motion to bar Dr. Mayer from testifying.  “I don’t see the prejudice by 

allowing you to continue with the expert by which Mr. Heavey has now 

withdrawn his objection as to the standard of care as to his client.”  1T9.  

Judge McCarthy stressed that Monmouth County was “moving cases” as well.  

“[A]ll I’m going to do is unnecessarily delay this case by allowing a new 

expert to come in at this late of a junction .”  “[B]alancing the prejudice 

against” plaintiff with the “2018 docket number” warranted denying plaintiffs’ 

application, Judge McCarthy ruled: 

I have to balance, and I realize it was a cost to your client, but I 

also have to balance that interest against the court’s interest, the 
case is a 2018 docket number. As I mentioned, we are trying 

medical malpractice cases here in Monmouth County.  That the 

prejudice to the other parties, and I think the issue towards the 

Court by allowing this case, you know, indefinitely -- I’m 
probably would be at a minimum no less than 60 days, probably 

more than that. And then that’s not even talking about getting 
these depositions done that you indicated that you’re going to have 
a tough time complying with Judge Sheedy’s order on.  
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So balancing the prejudice against your clients, the other parties, I 

really think the totality of the circumstances, you have an expert 

that can testify against Mr. Heavey’s client. He will be able, you 
know, kind of where cross examination may be now based upon 

his motion, so you have the ability to prepare for that.  [1T10-12] 

Plaintiffs’ Motion for Reconsideration 

As noted above, plaintiffs moved for reconsideration after Judge Sheedy 

extended the discovery deadlines again – pushing the end date to December 

30, 2021 and noting to counsel for the parties that trial would not possibly take 

place until March or April of the following year (2022) at the earliest.  

Plaintiffs stressed to Judge McCarthy that expert depositions would be 

continuing through December.  A263-68.  Defendant had Dr. Ferzoco’s Expert 

Report since July 30, 2021, and it was substantially similar to the prior expert 

reports.  A263-68.  It was unfair, plaintiffs stressed, for the court to continue 

denying plaintiffs their choice of expert on the most critical issue the jury 

would have to decide – and where plaintiffs had retained Dr. Ferzoco 

specifically to address the qualification and credentialing issues that defendant 

had continually raised and would raise again at trial.   

During the November 12 argument, however, Judge McCarthy, while 

acknowledging Judge Sheedy’s extension once again of the discovery 

deadlines, continued complaining about the age of the case, telling plaintiffs’ 

counsel, “Well, you’ve got a case that’s going to be four years old.  I don’t 
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know what’s happening in other parts of the state, but we are moving cases 

here in Monmouth. …. these trial dates are real and they have teeth. … I don’t 

know, again, what other vicinages may or may not be doing, but we are  

moving med mal cases, we’re moving employment cases… these are real 

dates.”  2T7-8.   

As in his August ruling, Judge McCarthy also told plaintiffs’ counsel 

that plaintiffs “already had” Dr. Mayer:  “But you have an expert in this case.  

You have an expert that is willing, ready to testify against Mr. Heavey’s client  

in this matter.  Correct?”  2T10.  Plaintiffs’ counsel explained again why Dr. 

Ferzoco had been retained: 

MR. EPSTEIN: It’s not -- it’s not a better expert report. We found 
out credentialing issues. And I can point them out to Your Honor, 

because they were in Mr. Heavey’s brief that, again, ten years of 
no privileges within the hospitals that are during the time period of 

the -- of the incident. The fact that he had only 20 percent to 

teaching prior to the -- the year -- the year immediately preceding 

the incident. These are -- these are death knells and the -- and 

really it’s going to happen at the end of the case as opposed to 
before the case and it’s -- to not to allow the plaintiffs’ counsel to 

have discovered that at the same time as defense counsel would go 

opposite of the cases actually cited in Mr. Heavey’s brief.  [2T12] 

 

Defendant’s counsel (Mr. Heavey) acknowledged to Judge McCarthy 

that the defense was not withdrawing or waiving objections to Dr. Mayer’s 

qualification and credentialing problems for trial.  2T14; 2T26-28.   
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Plaintiffs’ counsel stressed the absence of prejudice to the defendant, 

which had more than sufficient time to depose Dr. Ferzoco “because the 

discovery had been extended” by overseeing Judge Sheedy.  “[W]e have a 

December 30th end date, and … there’s not even a trial date yet, again, so 

there is a good cause -- you know, there’s still a good cause standard for the 

request to bring a report.”  2T24.   

But Judge McCarthy affirmed his prior ruling and denied 

reconsideration.  “Dr. Mayer can still testify, the plaintiff is still able to offer 

the opinion.  Whatever weight the jury chooses to give to Dr. Mayer or any of 

the experts in this case is clearly within the province of the fact finder.”  Judge 

McCarthy said there was “potential prejudice to the defendant” by the “11th, at 

the 10th-and-a-half hour, allowing a new expert report.  I don’t see any 

authority -- or persuasive authority, based upon the record here and the 

evidence submitted that would allow that.”  Judge McCarthy again stressed the 

age of the case and his worry that allowing Dr. Ferzoco would delay its 

resolution.  “The case is three years, five months old.  Judge Sheedy, in 

speaking to and looking what’s here, you know, she’s trying to lock this up 

and get the expert depositions done so you are in a position where you can try 

this case.  To the extent this Court were to grant this motion, inevitably every 
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action has a reaction and this would certainly further delay significantly the 

ability of this case to ultimately be tried,” Judge McCarthy said, concluding, 

I think it’s a dangerous road for a court to allow. And I agree with 
Mr. Heavey, whether it be a plaintiff or a defendant, if someone 

has an expert that may have some problems not rising to the level 

of the expert to testify, but to allow a new expert in a case now 

that has had -- I believe I have eCourts, if I haven’t been frozen -- 
1,220 days’ worth of discovery. The case is three years, five 

months old. Judge Sheedy, in speaking to and looking what’s here, 
you know, she’s trying to lock this up and get the expert 
depositions done so you are in a position where you can try this 

case. To the extent this Court were to grant this motion, inevitably 

every action has a reaction and this would certainly further delay 

significantly the ability of this case to ultimately be tried.  [2T31] 

ARGUMENT 

 

The pretrial judge abused his discretion – and violated plaintiffs’ 
right to present their wrongful death claim before the jury at trial – 

by denying plaintiffs’ motion to name Dr. Stephen Ferzoco as their 

expert witness (A18), and by denying reconsideration of the unfairly 

prejudicial ruling (A16). 

 

The Appellate Division reviews orders regarding discovery for abuse of 

discretion, including whether a court abused its discretion “in denying 

plaintiff's motion for an extension of the discovery period[.]”  Spinks v. Twp. 

of Clinton, 402 N.J. Super. 454, 459 (App. Div. 2008).  Abuse of discretion 

occurs when the lower court misapplied governing law, or when its decision 

“inexplicably departed from established policies, or rested on an impermissible 

basis.”  Flagg v. Essex Cnty. Prosecutor, 171 N.J. 561, 571 (2002); Customers 
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Bank v. Reitnour Inv. Properties, LP, 453 N.J. Super. 338, 348 (App. Div. 

2018). 

A. Judge McCarthy abused his discretion in his August 27 ruling 

 When plaintiffs moved for permission to name Dr. Ferzoco as their 

expert, the Case Management Order in effect (the February 16, 2021 Order) 

noted that plaintiffs’ expert reports had been “completed”  while providing 

dates for the completion of other discovery with an overall end date of July 20, 

2021.  A152.   

But by the time Judge McCarthy heard argument and ruled on plaintiffs’ 

motion on August 27, plaintiffs had served Dr. Ferzoco’s expert report on 

defendant on July 30 (A235), and Judge Sheedy had entered her August 9 

Order providing for expert depositions to be completed by October 17, and 

extending the discovery end date to November 17, 2021.  A220.  Plaintiffs’ 

identification of Dr. Ferzoco was proper under R. 4:17-7 as well, which 

provides that a party may amend its answers to interrogatories – including 

experts to be called at trial -- no later than “[twenty] days prior to the end of” 

discovery.  Judge McCarthy erred in denying plaintiffs’ motion in light of the 

August 9 Case Management Order in effect at the time of his ruling and the 

Court Rule allowing amendment.   
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Even if naming Dr. Ferzoco was considered a request for extension of 

discovery (since the prior February 16, 2021 Case Management Order 

indicated that service of plaintiffs’ expert reports was “completed”), Judge 

McCarthy erred in failing to apply the “good cause” standard that applies to 

requests for extensions where no trial date has been set, per R. 4:24–1(c).  

Tynes v. St. Peter's Univ. Med. Ctr., 408 N.J. Super. 159, 168 (App. Div. 

2009); Viviano v. CBS, Inc., 101 N.J. 538, 547 (1986); Leitner v. Toms River 

Reg'l Sch., 392 N.J. Super. 80, 93 (App. Div. 2007); Ponden v. Ponden, 374 

N.J. Super. 1, 9–11 (App. Div. 2004), certif. denied, 183 N.J. 212 (2005).  As 

the Rule provides, the extension “shall” be granted on “good cause” shown 

where there is no trial or arbitration date scheduled.  There was no trial or 

arbitration date scheduled when plaintiffs moved to name Dr. Ferzoco as their 

expert, when Judge McCarthy issued his August 27, or even when Judge 

McCarthy denied reconsideration on November 12.  Judge McCarthy did not 

cite or apply this good cause standard.   

The record before Judge McCarthy showed there was more than 

sufficient good cause to grant an extension to permit plaintiffs to name Dr. 

Ferzoco as their expert.  As counsel stressed to Judge McCarthy, plaintiffs 

retained Dr. Ferzoco to address the qualification and credentialing problems 

that defendant raised against Dr. Mayer.  There was no trial or arbitration date 
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scheduled, and the discovery deadlines were weeks away, see Leitner v. Toms 

River Reg'l Sch., 392 N.J. Super. 80 (App. Div. 2007) (“absence of an 

arbitration or trial date at the time of the trial judge's ruling is of critical 

significance in a court's exercise of its discretion to extend discovery"); 

Ponden, 374 N.J. Super. 9 (“raison d'etre” of Best Practices “was to render 

trial dates meaningful”; “enforcement or relaxation of discovery end dates” 

thus “chiefly governed by the presence of an existing trial or arbitration date 

and whether the late discovery can be completed without jeopardizing the 

arbitration or trial date.")  The factors for assessing “good cause” (Leitner, 

supra, 392 N.J. Super. 87) supported plaintiffs’ request: 

• With regard to factor (1), the movant's reasons for the requested 

extension of discovery, plaintiffs named Dr. Ferzoco to address 

defendant’s continued qualification objections; 

• With regard to factor (2), the movant's diligence in earlier 

pursuing discovery, the record showed that plaintiffs diligently 

worked towards and fulfilled all discovery deadlines in the case;   

• With regard to factor (4), any prejudice which would inure to the 

individual movant if an extension is denied, denying Dr. Ferzoco’s 

entry would saddle plaintiffs with the qualification and 
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credentialing problems that defendant would raise against Dr. 

Mayer at trial on the most important issue the jury had to decide; 

• With regard to factor (5), granting plaintiffs’ request would be 

“consistent with the goals and aims of ‘Best Practices’” since no 

trial date was set and prejudice and delay was minimal at most; 

• With regard to factor (6), the “age of the case” was reasonable 

given its complexity and the COVID-19 delays that impacted all 

cases; 

• With regard to factor (7), “the type and extent of discovery” that 

remained “to be completed” included several expert depositions 

anyway – adding Dr. Ferzoco to the list was not substantially 

burdensome or delaying;  

• With regard to factor (8), “any prejudice which may inure to the 

non-moving party if an extension is granted,” defendant had Dr. 

Ferzoco’s expert report since July 30 and it was substantially 

similar to Dr. Mayer's report on the same issue.   

• With regard to factor (9), there was no substantive motion practice 

that would have been impacted by permitting Dr. Ferzoco into the 

case. 
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Any reasonable balancing of those factors shows that good cause 

supported plaintiffs’ request to name Dr. Ferzoco as their expert for the 

unscheduled trial.  

In Tucci v. Tropicana Casino & Resort, Inc., 364 N.J. Super. 48, 53 

(App. Div. 2003), this Court ruled that the motion judge erred by precluding an 

expert report the party submitted 39 days after the discovery deadline passed.  

If the motion judge in Tucci erred, Judge McCarthy erred, since plaintiffs 

served Dr. Ferzoco’s report and moved for permission to name him as their 

expert well within the discovery end date and where no trial date was set, cf. 

Castello v Wohler, 446 NJ Super I, 20, (App. Div. 2016) (though plaintiffs' 

expert was not qualified and the affidavit of merit was invalid, discovery 

deadline should have been extended to permit plaintiffs time to obtain another 

expert).    

None of the reasons that Judge McCarthy noted in his ruling provided 

reasonable and sufficient ground to deny plaintiffs their chosen expert on the 

most critical issue the jury was to decide.  Judge McCarthy said that plaintiffs 

already had an expert in Dr. Mayer.  1T9.  But this was plaintiffs’ choice, not 

the judge’s.  When Judge McCarthy made his August 27 decision, the 

discovery end date was nearly three months away, and even expert depositions 

had almost two months left for completion.  The Rules of Court still provided 
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plaintiffs with a right to amend their answers to interrogatories to identify a 

new expert.  Plaintiffs had a qualified right, at least, to choose the expert 

witness they wanted to testify at trial, and they chose Dr. Ferzoco specifically 

to address the problems that defendant had continually raised against Dr. 

Mayer.  Judge McCarthy abused his discretion by overriding plaintiffs’ choice, 

and sticking them with the problematic Dr. Mayer for trial, without a sufficient 

and compelling reason to do so.     

Judge McCarthy said he was denying plaintiffs’ motion also because 

“we are moving the cases here.  … I think in light of the challenges associated 

with everyone involved with this case, trying to get the depositions done in a 

somewhat timely manner, all I’m going to do is unnecessarily delay this case 

by allowing a new expert to come in at this late of a junction.”  1T10-12.  But 

the deadline to depose experts was nearly two months away, and the discovery 

deadline nearly three months away, under the August 9 Case Management 

Order in effect.  There was insufficient factual support for Judge McCarthy’s 

worries about delaying a trial which had not even been scheduled. 

While caselaw provides that an extension of discovery should not cause 

prejudice to the opposing party (Leitner, supra, 392 N.J. Super. 93; Ponden, 

supra, 374 N.J. Super. 9), nothing in the record showed that there would be 

such prejudice to defendant Chung-Loy that it warranted denying outright 
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plaintiffs’ chosen expert on the most critical issue the jury would have to 

decide.  The expert report of Dr. Ferzoco was substantively similar to Dr. 

Mayer’s report.  There was no surprise as to its contents; Dr. Ferzoco’s 

qualifications and credentials simply avoided the problems that Dr. Mayer had.  

The August 9 Case Management Order provided defendant with nearly two 

more months to depose Dr. Ferzoco – and this was extended again in Judge 

Sheedy’s later Case Management Order.  There was no prejudice to defendant 

that was demonstrated on the record before Judge McCarthy.  This was not a 

situation, for example, where a party had suddenly identified a new expert just 

before trial was about to start.   

Whatever prejudice defendant claimed, moreover, Judge McCarthy 

could have and should have addressed it by something less harmful than 

denying plaintiffs’ chosen expert outright -- payment of fees or costs for 

defendant having had to depose Dr. Mayer, or obtain a supplemental or 

responsive report, extension of time needed by defendant, etc. --  a lesser 

“remedy” than completely precluding plaintiffs from calling Dr. Ferzoco as 

their expert witness on the most critical issue the jury would have to decide, 

for a trial that wasn’t even scheduled and that would be scheduled until March 

or April the next year at the earliest.  Our courts have consistently stressed that 

trial court orders barring discovery or the like must not work an injustice on 
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the affected party.  While a judge has broad discretion in formulating sanctions 

for discovery violations, for instance, such as the failure to timely file an 

expert report, any sanction must be “just and reasonable.” Conrad v. Robbi, 

341 N.J. Super. 424, 441 (App. Div. 2001).  R. 4:23-2(b) provides a number of 

sanctions a court is empowered to impose, with the choice of sanction 

informed in part by whether the party acted willfully and the degree of harm 

suffered harm by the opponent.  Gonzalez v. Safe & Sound Sec. Corp., 185 

N.J. 100, 115 (2005); cf. Baldyga v. Oldman, 261 N.J. Super. 259, 268 (App. 

Div. 1993) (error to exclude expert report received after discovery end date but 

before ruling on summary judgment).  Judge McCarthy abused his discretion 

in this regard as well by failing to consider alternatives than barring outright 

the expert witness that plaintiffs wanted to call at trial on this critical issue.   

B. Judge McCarthy at least abused his discretion by denying 

reconsideration in his November 12 ruling.   

 

By the time of reconsideration, Judge Sheedy had extended the 

discovery end date even further to December 30, 2021, and advised that trial 

would not occur until March or April 2022 at the earliest (and trial did not 

actually occur until the following year, in May 2023).  Expert depositions were 

expected to continue through the discovery end date -- as reflected in Judge 

Sheedy’s Case Management Order then entered on November 18, 2021 

(A273).   

AMENDEDFILED, Clerk of the Appellate Division, October 16, 2023, A-003356-22, AMENDED



 22 

Judge McCarthy again placed too much weight on his speculative 

worries about delaying a trial that wasn’t even scheduled:  “Well, you’ve got a 

case that’s going to be four years old.  I don’t know what’s happening in other 

parts of the state, but we are moving cases here in Monmouth.”  Judge 

McCarthy’s concerns about delaying the case had been lessened by Judge 

Sheedy’s extension of the deadlines and forecast for when trial might possibly 

take place.  As plaintiffs’ counsel said in response to Judge McCarthy asking 

“what has changed” since his August 27 ruling, “the discovery had been 

extended”; “we have a December 30th end date, and now we know that trial 

will not be before … there’s not even a trial date yet, again, so there is a good 

cause -- you know, there’s still a good cause standard for the request to bring a 

report.”  2T24.   

The “age of the case” was not plaintiffs’ fault -- even Judge McCarthy 

did not find that.  This was a complicated medical negligence case involving 

several potentially responsible parties.  The COVID-19 delays exacerbated the 

time it took for the case to progress through discovery.  But the record before 

Judge McCarthy showed that counsel for all parties, plaintiffs included, had 

pursued discovery diligently, and the Law Division had extended deadlines as 

needed to accommodate the discovery that was needed.  As plaintiffs’ counsel 

affirmed to Judge McCarthy in support of reconsideration (A214), “The fact 
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that expert depositions will take at least through December to schedule cannot 

be viewed as a circumstance caused by the plaintiffs.” 

20.   To the contrary, on April 23, 2021, plaintiffs emailed 

all defendants requesting available dates to depose its experts.  A 

follow up letter was sent on August 18, 2021 as no responses were 

forthcoming.  We received only two responses resulting in five (5) 

days in October to take the depositions of 15 defendant experts.  

On September 2, 2021 we again requested available dates from 

counsel who had not responded. We then received one other 

response, limiting depositions to 2 days in October.  Plaintiffs then 

circulated dates for November. After receiving only 2 responses, 

November dates were limited to 5 available dates. Plaintiffs then 

circulated dates for December. Despite plaintiffs' numerous 

requests, available dates for expert depositions could not be agreed 

upon by defendants. See plaintiffs' letters attached hereto as 

Exhibit E. 

21.   On October 1, 2021, the parties appeared again before 

Judge Sheedy for a case management conference. Judge Sheedy 

requested all parties confer on expert deposition dates in October 

and reconvene on October 12, 2021. 

22.   On October 12, 2021, the parties again appeared before 

Judge Sheedy.  At the time of the conference, plaintiffs had 

provided October dates for depositions of its experts but 

defendants had provided mostly November or December dates for 

its experts.  Judge Sheedy extended discovery to December 30, 

2021. Trial was not scheduled but counsel were instructed to agree 

to dates in March or April.  [A214-19] 

As plaintiffs’ counsel stressed, “Dr. Ferzoco's report was served in July.  

All of the defendant expert depositions remain outstanding and discovery has 

been extended to December 30, 2021; Trial will not occur before March or 

April 2022 at the earliest.  Based on the above, and in the interest of justice,” 

Judge McCarthy abused his discretion -- at least by his November 12 ruling -- 
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in continuing to deny plaintiffs’ their chosen expert on this critical issue.  

Whatever prejudice defendant possibly might have suffered could have and 

should have been dealt with by something less than barring this expert entirely.  

Judge McCarthy did not reasonably balance the rights of the parties, and of the 

court, in that regard.  And predictions of doom were not supported by 

sufficient evidence in the record before him showing that the catastrophic 

delays would happen – that “this would certainly further delay significantly the 

ability of this case to ultimately be tried” (2T31-33).  Judge McCarthy did not 

reasonably exercise his discretion and, ultimately, unfairly prejudiced 

plaintiffs’ presentation of their complex malpractice case at trial.   

C. Judge McCarthy’s rulings denying plaintiffs their chosen 

expert on the most critical issue the jury had to decide were –  

quite  predictably – devastating to presentation of their case  

at trial. 

 

In denying plaintiffs’ motions to name Dr. Ferzoco, Judge McCarthy 

kept telling counsel that plaintiffs “already had” an expert in Dr. Mayer.  

Plaintiffs’ counsel kept telling Judge McCarthy that Dr. Mayer was saddled 

with glaring qualification and credentialing problems that defendant’s counsel, 

Mr. Heavy, had raised pretrial, that Dr. Ferzoco was retained to address, and 

which would be a major problem for plaintiffs before the jury if they were not 

allowed to name the eminently qualified Dr. Ferzoco as their expert witness.  

Plaintiffs’ counsel told Judge McCarthy during reconsideration that “it was 
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discovered during the dep[osition of Dr. Mayer] that the credentialing was a 

significant problem with the expert” and that’s why Dr. Ferzoco was retained.  

2T10-11.   

MR. EPSTEIN: … We found out credentialing issues. And I 

can point them out to Your Honor, because they were in Mr. 

Heavey’s brief that, again, ten years of no privileges within the 

hospitals that are during the time period of the -- of the incident. 

The fact that he had only 20 percent to teaching prior to the -- the 

year -- the year immediately preceding the incident. These are -- 

these are death knells and the -- and really it’s going to happen at 
the end of the case as opposed to before the case and it’s -- to not 

to allow the plaintiffs’ counsel to have discovered that at the same 
time as defense counsel would go opposite of the cases actually 

cited in Mr. Heavey’s brief.  [2T12] 

 

Plaintiffs’ counsel told Judge McCarthy that these “credentialing issues” 

were “not going away” -- as defendant’s counsel acknowledged.  2T27-29.     

And when trial arrived, right in opening statement, Mr. Heavey told the 

jury, 

Let me talk about, you’ve already heard from me Dr. Chung-

Loy has over 35 years of surgical experience. I have three general 

surgeons, I’m not sure I’m going to call all three of them, but I’ll 
probably call two of them, and combined those general surgeons 

have about 75 years of experience. You couple that with Dr. 

Chung-Loy’s experience, you have about 110 years of surgical 
experience. 

You’re going to hear that the expert from the plaintiff, the 
general surgeon by the name of Dr. Mayer, at the time of this 

treatment wasn’t even doing abdominal surgery. He wasn’t even 
doing bowel surgery. He didn’t have permission at any hospital to 
do general surgery. He didn’t have privileges at any hospital to do 
general surgery. He hadn’t done a consultation in general surgery 
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on a patient since 2010. He hadn’t done bowel surgery on a patient 
since 2010. 

And for much of that time he -- or for a significant portion 

of that time, he left medicine and practiced as a lawyer for about 

three or four years, New York, suing his colleagues. Doctors like 

Dr. Chung-Loy. And when he came back to practice, he was still 

working with these firms, still of counsel to these firms, and at the 

same time he was doing expert work, coming to court, testifying 

on behalf of plaintiffs against surgeons, and doing a lot of -- 

you’re going to hear in his career, he’s done almost a  thousand 

cases as an expert for plaintiffs, all over the country. All over the 

country. 

But for the time involved in this case, 2016, he couldn’t do 
what Dr. Chung-Loy was doing at a hospital, a consultation or a 

surgery. He couldn’t do it for ten years. 

So you’re going to see a lot of witnesses for the plaintiff. 
I’m not sure how many. But far more than I’m going to have. As 
Judge Sheedy has told you and what you will hear at the end is 

that the burden of proof by the plaintiff is by a preponderance of 

the credible evidence, by the greater weight of the evidence. Now 

the greater weight does not mean the number of witnesses, the 

number of documents that are put in evidence, but it’s the quality 
of that evidence. 

Now when you hear Dr. Mayer’s testimony and his 
qualifications, versus the qualifications of my experts and my own 

client, I’m confident you will find that the believable evidence is 
that which is put on by the experts for the defense. And that the 

testimony of Dr. Mayer with respect to deviation of standard of 

care by Dr. Chung-Loy are not worthy of belief.  [3T35-36] 

Mr. Heavey then proceeded to eviscerate Dr. Mayer in cross-

examination on the very qualification problems that Dr. Ferzoco was retained 

to address (4T173): 
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Q Now, it’s a fair statement that from 2011 through 2022, you did not do 

one bowel surgery? 

A That’s true. 

Q And you did not do one major abdominal surgery during that same 10 

year period, correct? 

A True. 

Q And have you done any bowel surgery in the last six months? 

A No, I’m privileged for it but I haven’t. 

Q So you still haven’t done bowel surgery since 2010, correct?  

A Yes. 

Q And for the period 2011 through 2021, you did not do a single surgical 

consult in any hospital, correct? 

A True. 

Q Including a consult on a patient with suspected ischemic colitis. 

A That’s true. 

Q And the reason is you did not have permission to do those at any 

hospital at that time during that period, correct? 

A That’s true. 

Q And the last time you did a surgical consult on a patient with ischemic 

colitis was in the fall of 2010, correct? 
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A Yes. 

Q So that’s almost 13 years ago. 

A Yes. 

Q And the last time you did surgery for ischemic colitis was in the fall of 

2010, again about 13 years ago? 

A Yes. 

Q So in June of 2016, when Dr. Chung-Loy was treating Ms. 

Mahalchick, you did not have hospital privileges anywhere to do what Dr. 

Chung-Loy was doing and that is consulting on a hospital patient and doing 

surgery. 

A Correct. 

Q Now, you testified earlier that you had an application to Northwell 

Hospital in 2014 but withdrew it, correct? 

A Yes. 

Q And you testified this morning, you testified this morning that you 

withdrew the application because you were still getting back into surgery and 

you did not feel you were ready to do a hospital surgical practice, correct?  

A That’s true. 

Q But in your deposition I took in this case under oath before trial, did 

you not testify that you withdrew the application because you got so busy? 
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A That’s another reason. I withdrew it in 2015 because I got very busy 

in my outpatient work, my private work. 

Q But that’s not what you said this morning, correct? This morning you 

said because you weren’t ready. 

A Well, it was a combination of factors. I think they’re both true.  

Q And I want to show you your trial testimony in that case we were 

referring to earlier, Flowers. 

MR. EPSTEIN: Judge, can we see that? 

Q And you’ll see that this is dated May 23rd, 2016, correct? 

THE COURT: Counsel? 

A Yes. 

THE COURT: They’re asking to see it. 

(Counsel confer) 

BY MR. HEAVEY: 

Q Doctor, you testified to the jury that you had an application for 

privileges in 2014. I’m going to show you your testimony from May 23rd, 

2016 in the Flowers case. Then read with me on the bottom, page 86 and you 

were asked at that time in 2016, May, do you currently have any privileges to 

practice at any hospital. The answer was no. And you were, and you resigned 

all your privileges at the end of 2010, correct, and that was correct, right? 
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A Yeah. 

Q Then you were asked and you haven’t applied to any, and your answer 

to that question was no? Was that -- 

A I think that factually I must have didn’t remember because I applied 

and then withdrew relatively quickly so maybe I didn’t consider that a big 

formal application like I –  

Q You said this under -- 

A -- in 2017. 

Q You testified to this under oath, correct? 

A There’s an inconsistency there. I agree. 

Q And then you testified, and you testified that you applied to Northwell 

again in 2017. 

A Yes. 

Q But you withdrew that because you had moved. 

A Yes. 

Q But in your deposition in this case, did you not testify that you 

withdrew the application again because you were too busy? 

A I’m not sure but I moved an hour away from the hospital so that was -- 

Q Well, let me refresh your recollection, Doctor. 

A Again, often it’s a combination of factors that go into these decisions.  
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Q I want you to read, 15 to the bottom of page 16 and then I’m going  to 

ask you a question. 

A Sure. 

Q And this is your deposition taken in this case. 

A Oh, okay. Okay. 

Q And you testified in this case, your deposition before this trial, you 

had an application in 2014 which you withdrew because you were too busy, 

correct? 

A Among other reasons, yes. 

Q I’m talking about in your deposition. The only reason you gave was 

because you were too busy, correct? 

A And I wanted to, it’s like a professional baseball player, he has a 

major injury and is out for a year or so, they don’t put him right back into a 

major league game. They send him to Triple A to get his swing back and I was 

doing that out as an outpatient. 

Q I’m not sure you -- 

A Smaller surgeries. 

Q I’m not sure you answered -- simple question, Doctor. This is very 

simple. You testified in your deposition in this case -- 

A Yes. 
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Q -- in June of 2021, so almost a year ago. 

A Yeah. 

Q That you withdrew the application that you made to Northwell in 2014 

because you were too busy, correct? 

A Well, that was one of the reasons, correct. 

Q But that’s what you told me. That’s the only time I got to talk to you, 

correct? 

A Yes. 

Q Until today. And then you said your application in 2017, you 

withdrew for the same reasons as you withdrew the one in 2014, true? 

A That together with the fact I wasn’t near the hospital anymore. 

Q Did you say that to me in your deposition on the sole time I got to talk 

to you? 

A I don’t see that specifically on this deposition. 

Q When you used the baseball analogy, you were hiding the ball from 

me then, correct? 

A I wouldn’t say that.  [4T173-179] 

Defendant’s counsel continued further on the qualification problems (4T185): 

Q So did you have an application for privileges pending in 2018 when 

you did the CV or was the CV false? 
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A Well, the CV is not false. I can’t recall what month of the year I 

withdrew the application and planned my move. I don’t recall, it’s like five 

years ago. 

Q Can you concede it’s rather confusing? 

 A I don’t believe it’s confusing. 

Q Well -- 

A I think -- 

Q -- you’ve given several different answers as to when your applications 

were submitted, when they were withdrawn and for what reason, correct? 

A Well, they were -- 

Q You went over the testimony, correct? 

A They were my personal reasons for withdrawing. 

Q But the reasons you gave under oath in different depositions from 

different cases, true? 

A Well, but they were all valid reasons. I didn’t list the entirety of the 

personal reasons. 

Q Doctor, you could have clarified this whole issue by getting your 

hospital application filed, true? 

A I’m not sure  …   [4T185-86] 
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Q Doctor, at your deposition of June 8th, 2021 in this case do you recall 

me asking you. "Is that true, you still have that application for privileges at 

Northwell pending in October of 2018 represented on your CV?" You recall 

the answer that you gave? 

A I don’t recall but I’ll accept your representation. 

Q You said I can’t answer with certainty, correct? 

A As I sit here today, I don’t remember exactly what month I applied, 

what month I withdrew it but it was around that time. 

Q Did you ever regain your privileges at Northwell? 

A Yes, the second application was approved but I withdrew it because I 

was moving and decided I didn’t want to commute. 

Q So when did you get that application approved? 

A Sometime in late ‘17 or early ‘18, I don’t remember.  [4T189-90] 

Mr. Heavey then destroyed Dr. Mayer’s credibility either further:  

Q And I noticed also on your CV, that you don’t mention anywhere on 

here, and this is your biography, correct? 

A It’s my medical biography, yes. 

Q You don’t mention anything on here you’re having worked as a 

lawyer in a medical malpractice firm, correct? 
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A No, I don’t have my law activities on it but I do mention I have a JD 

degree. 

Q So yes, you mentioned your law school degree that you ranked two 

out of three – 

A Yes. 

Q But you mentioned nothing about your work for a law firm that 

primarily was involved with suing doctors, representing clients who are suing 

doctors, true? 

A It’s not on my medical CV.  [4T189-90] 

Mr. Heavey attacked professional expert Mayer’s credibility in ways that 

the eminently qualified Dr. Ferzoco could not have been: 

Q You’ve been doing expert work since the 1980's, correct?  

A Yes. 

Q 45 years or so? 

A Yes. 

Q You review on average 25 cases a year? 

A Yes. 

Q You have reviewed in your expert work over 900 cases by now. 

A Yes. 
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Q You’ve had your deposition taken, a deposition when your deposition 

is taken before trial under oath, you had that happened in cases such as this 

over 150 times? 

A Yes. 

Q You testified at trial over 100 times? 

A Yes. 

Q And you received cases from several services whose business it is to 

match attorneys with experts such as yourself, correct? 

A Yes. 

Q You got this case through one of those services, correct?  [4T160-61] 

After objection, the trial court permitted Mr. Heavey to continue: 

Q You don’t remember, okay. But you’ve gotten cases from a company 

called SEAK, S E A K, right? 

A Yes. 

Q You were getting cases from them for 20 years. 

A Yes. 

Q You get cases from a company called JurisPro. 

A Yes. 

Q And you’ve been getting cases from them for 25 years.  

A Yes. 
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Q You get cases from the American Medical Forensic Specialist 

Company. 

A Yes. 

Q You were getting cases from them for 25 years. 

A Yes. 

Q You get cases from National Medical Consultants. 

A Yes. 

Q You’ve been getting cases from them since 2012. 

A Yes. 

Q You get cases from a company called Medival, M E D I V A L. 

A Yes. 

Q You get cases from a company called Prime Medical Experts. 

 A Yes. 

Q You get cases from a company called American Medical Experts. 

A Yes. 

Q You get over half of your cases annually through these expert witness 

services, correct? 

A I would estimate it more like 25 percent but. 

Q Well, do you recall in your deposition – 

MS. PENNOCK: Can I see a copy of it? 
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Q Let me put it this way, Doctor. You get the overwhelming majority of 

your cases, the ones that you get from these organizations are for the plaintiff, 

correct? 

A Yes. 

Q And as a matter of fact, the overwhelming majority of the times you 

review cases in general is for the plaintiff, correct? 

A It’s about 60/40, plaintiff, defense. 

Q Was the overwhelming majority, you’ve testified to that, correct? 

A If you take the entirety of my expert work, the last 15 years it has been 

60/40, plaintiff, defense. 

Q Have you not testified that the overwhelming majority of the times 

you review cases is for the plaintiff? 

A Maybe in the past I might have. 

Q And you testified that the overwhelming majority of the time you 

testify in court it’s for the plaintiff? 

A That’s true. 

Q You also advertise your service as an expert witness, true? 

A Yes. 

Q You advertise on the SEAK website, that one organization we already 

spoke about and on the JurisPro website. 
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A Yes. 

Q And you pay for that advertising. 

A Yes. 

Q And you advertise your services as a medical malpractice expert in the 

New York Law Journal and in the New York State Trial Lawyers Association 

publication. 

A Yes. 

Q You’ve also done a mass mailing to lawyers soliciting their business 

for expert work, correct? 

A Yes. 

Q And you’ve been involved as an expert witness in over 30 states.  

A Yes. 

Q And you’ve not confined yourself to only offer opinions against 

surgeons which is in your specialty. You’ve also offered opinions against 

doctors in other specialties as well, correct? 

A If there were surgical issues, correct. 

Q You testified against emergency room doctors, correct? 

A Yes. 

Q You’ve testified against orthopedic surgeons. 

A Yes. 
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Q You’ve testified against neurologists. 

A Yes. 

Q You’ve testified against anesthesiologists. 

A Yes. 

Q Gastroenterologists. 

A Yes. 

Q Internists. 

A Yes. 

Q And even a neurosurgeon. 

A Yes. 

Q You testified against podiatrists. 

A Yes. 

Q You’ve testified against pediatricians. 

A Yes. 

 Q Obstetricians. 

A Yes. 

Q Cardiologists. 

A Yes. 

Q Nephrologists. 

A Yes, if there was a surgical issue, yes. 
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Q Plastic surgeons. 

A Yes. 

Q Dermatologists. 

A Yes. 

Q And nurses. 

A Yes. 

Q Now, you mentioned that, you also testified before the Board of, is it 

the New York Board of Professional, remind me, the licensing board? 

A Oh, it’s the Office of Professional Misconduct of the New York 

Department of Health. 

Q And those are physicians who have licensing actions against them, 

correct? 

A Yes.  [4T166-169] 

Defendant’s counsel painted Dr. Mayer as an expert in seeking money 

damages against other doctors – not in honestly assessing another doctor’s 

care: 

Q Doctor, when you were still a practicing surgeon in 2007, you went to 

law school and graduated in 2010, correct? 

A Yes. 

Q Then you were a practicing attorney beginning 2011. 
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A Yes. 

Q And when you practiced, you practiced in the specialty of medical 

malpractice representing only plaintiffs in medical malpractice cases  and suing 

fellow doctors, correct? 

A I didn’t sue them personally. I worked with law firms that were 

plaintiffs’ firms. 

Q I got you. And you helped work up the cases. 

A Yes. 

Q You helped at trials. 

A Yes. 

Q You even tried eight cases, correct? 

A That’s correct. 

Q And you still have an active New York license to practice, correct? 

A Yes. 

Q And you’re still part of a law firm that does solely plaintiffs’ medical 

malpractice work, correct? 

A Well, I’m no longer practicing law so. 

Q Well, aren’t you still on the website of the law firm of Landers & 

Cernigliaro? 

A They still list me although I haven’t worked with  them since 2014. 
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Q You know that in New York you cannot associate yourself with a firm 

unless you’re actively working with that firm? Did you know tha t? 

A I’m not aware of that. 

Q Weren’t you, wasn’t this issue brought to your attention in the 

Flowers (phonetic) trial a few years ago? 

A Yes. 

Q And didn’t you say you did not know that you were still on that 

website? 

A At that time, I didn’t know. 

Q And didn’t you say you were going to take steps to correct that?  

A I did ask them to take me off but I don’t believe they have.  

Q They still haven’t. 

A I’m not sure if they have or not. 

Mr. Heavey then synthesized these devastating problems for the jury in  

his summation to the jury (7T46-50): 

Let’s talk about Dr. David Mayer. Nice guy. Right? He’s a 
nice guy. He’s everyone’s image of what a nice guy would be like. 
But think about what you heard concerning his qualifications and 

experience. And I have it listed up here on the board. Now when 

you read that, compare that to what you heard from the 19 defense 

experts. First of all, he hasn’t performed bowel or major 
abdominal surgery since 2010. Almost 13 years. He hasn’t done a 
hospital consultation on a patient with suspected ischemic colitis 

since 2010. He did not have hospital privileges between 2010 and 
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2022. In other words, he didn’t have permission to do a  

consultation, to see a patient in the 1 hospital, for 12 years. 

When Dr. Chung-Loy was evaluating Mrs. Mahalchick, Dr. 

Mayer could not have done that, because he did not have 

permission from any hospital to do that. And let’s talk about his 
answer to the questions about why he didn’t have that approach. 
He applied for privileges in 2014, 2015, and 2017. I kind of lost 

count of the years, the precise years. And each explanation as to 

why he didn’t follow through on the request for hospital privileges 
with Northwell Medical Center, was different. One was, he was 

too busy with his other practice to do it. In 2014. 2015, he applies 

again. Withdraws it again, because he says he was too busy to go 

back into the hospital again. 2017, he has an application. Okay. 

Again withdraws it. In his deposition he says it was part that he 

did it, because again he was too busy. And then at the stand at 

another point, he says he withdrew it because he had moved. He 

had moved in late 2017 through the first quarter of 2018. But then 

on his resume, that he submitted to us as part of discovery before 

trial, a resume dated October 2018, he puts on that resume that he 

still had that application pending. When I asked him on the stand 

why is that the case, he said, I don’t know, maybe I didn’t update 
it. There is something that didn’t fit there. About why he didn’t 
have hospital privileges. 

For three full years, when he stopped practicing medicine, 

he worked full time as a lawyer, for a law firm that did nothing but 

sue doctors, and sue surgeons, such as himself. He even tried eight 

cases as a plaintiff’s malpractice attorney. He is still on that 

website, of that law firm, as a lawyer with that firm. To this day. 

And you heard me ask him about was he alerted to the fact 

that he was still on that website four or five years ago, at a trial, 

and he still hasn’t made any attempts to correct what he claims is 

an error. But for five years he still has his name on there. Still, to 

this day. He testified that he overwhelmingly testifies for persons 

suing doctors. And of the reviews he does of cases, for his expert 

work, where he reviews cases and writes reports even before going 

to trial, overwhelmingly, overwhelming, for the people suing 

doctors. 
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He has made approximately two million dollars, two million 

dollars, doing 1 this expert work. He obtains cases from services 

that connect lawyers with doctors to be their experts in malpractice 

cases. And he gets cases from approximately seven of these 

services. 

He advertises on at least two of those service sites as well. 

He pays for advertising on those sites. And he also pays for 

advertising in legal publications, in at least New York State. He 

even sent out a mailer to numerous lawyers. He mass mailed it, 

seeking their business as an expert. He’s reviewed over 900 cases 
as an expert. He reviews, on average, 25, 25 cases a year. That’s 
over two a month. Here’s the killer. He’s a general surgeon. Just 
like Dr. Chung-Loy. That’s his area of expertise, or so he says. 
Yet, he feels that he can testify against specialties that are not in 

his ambit, or outside general surgery. So, he has testified against 

doctors who are in the specialties of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 

Cardiology, Pediatrics, kidney doctors, Nephrologists. Even 

Neurosurgeons. Nurses. He testified. Hospitals. ER Doctors. You 

heard the list. So, he doesn’t restrict himself to his own specialty 

when he’s doing this work, and soliciting work from lawyers by 
mass mailing, and soliciting work through these expert services.  

So, you put that fund of knowledge in your head when you 

evaluate his testimony. And particularly his lack of experience for 

those twelve years. Lack of experience in abdominal surgery, and 

bowel surgery. And even to this day, to this day, still, no 

abdominal or bowel surgery, or consultations on abdominal or  

bowel surgery.  

Dr. Mayer’s qualification and bias issues contrasted starkly with the 

experts the defense had called, Mr. Heavy stressed: 

Dr. Herron and Dr. Schuricht are both general surgeons. 

Between them, between the two of them, they have approximately 

60 years of surgical experience, without any interruption like Dr. 

Mayer. Without any interruption of their practice. Without any 

interruption of their hospital privileges. This is what they have 

been doing. Together. For a combined 60 years. Both teach 

surgery, general surgery, to students and surgical residents. 
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Residents who are going to be general surgeons some day. And 

they do it on a daily basis. And clearly, among what they teach is 

about ischemic colitis.  [7T53-54] 

 

 Of course the jury returned a no cause verdict for Dr. Chung-Loy.  None 

of this devastating cross-examination and argument by Dr. Chung-Loy’s 

counsel, of the most critical expert witness in the case, would have happened 

had plaintiffs been permitted to call the witness they actually wanted.  Dr. 

Ferzoco’s Expert Report and accompanying Curriculum Vitae show this:  “As 

a way of background, I graduated with my medical degree from Yale 

University School of Medicine in 1993.  I did my surgical training at Brigham 

and Women's Hospital in Boston, a training program for Harvard Medical 

School. I am currently Chief of Surgery at Atrius Health in Boston.   I have 

practiced as a board­ certified general surgeon continuously since 2001.  A 

copy of my Curriculum Vitae is attached.  All opinions set forth herein are 

held to a reasonable degree of medical certainty and based on my education, 

training, experience as a surgical instructor, medical school professor and as a 

practicing surgeon.”  A235-56.  Plaintiffs ask this Court to grant them a new 

trial because Judge McCarthy’s rulings were not only wrongful but caused 

such tremendous damage to plaintiffs’ presentation of their case.  Plaintiffs 

respectfully ask the Court to grant them a new trial where they can present to a 

jury the medical expert they wanted to explain their case. 
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Conclusion 

 

For all these reasons, the Court should vacate the final judgment entered 

in favor of defendant Chung-Loy and remand for a new trial on plaintiffs’ 

claims. 

Respectfully submitted, 

       

/s/ Daniel N. Epstein, Esquire  

I.D. #033981995  

EPSTEIN OSTROVE, LLC 

200 Metroplex Drive, Suite 304 

Edison, New Jersey 08817 

(732) 828-8600; d.epstein@epsteinostrove.com 

Counsel for Appellants 

 

Dated: October 3, 2023 
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